FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/26/2019 1:41 PM
No. 50336-1-II

96998-1

# THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

# GERALDINE IVERSON, as personal representative of BESSIE RITTER,

Appellant,

v.

# PRESTIGE CARE, INC. and NORTHWEST COUNTRY PLACE, INC.,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew J. Kalmanson WSBA No. 41262 Hart Wagner LLP 1000 SW Broadway Twentieth Floor Portland, OR 97205 503-222-4499 mjk@hartwagner.com Attorney for Respondents

## **

### A. INTRODUCTION

The important issue presented in this appeal is whether the trial court's gatekeeping role in keeping novel science from the jury unless it is generally accepted in the scientific community — *i.e.*, the "*Frye* test" — applies to an expert's opinion on causation that is derived from a differential diagnosis. The Washington Court of Appeals held that any opinion derived from a differential diagnosis does not implicate *Frye*, based entirely on its misunderstanding of *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857 (2011) ("*Anderson*"). The Opinion also conflicts with an opinion that this Court just issued on March 21, 2019, *L.M. v Hamilton*, No. 95173-0, which describes and applies the *Frye* test to evaluate an expert's opinion about causation.

Although the decision in this case (the "Opinion") was unpublished, it will have a great impact on future cases because the court adopted an argument about the scope of *Frye* that is often made in the trial courts and was squarely presented in this case. The logic of the Opinion is not limited to medical cases. It would apply to any case where expert testimony is required to prove causation, and it creates an enormous, dangerous loophole for the admission of junk science in Washington courtrooms. It is an appropriate case for review by this Court.

### **B.** IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are defendants Prestige Care, Inc. and Northwest Country Place, Inc. (collectively, "Prestige").

### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request that this Court review the January 3, 2019, unpublished opinion by Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals in *Geraldine Iverson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Bessie Ritter v. Prestige Care, Inc. and Northwest Country Place, Inc.*, No. 50336-1-II (2019 WL 92671). On February 26, 2019, the Washington Court of Appeals amended the Opinion after granting plaintiff's motion for reconsideration.

### D. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the "Frye test" applies to an expert's opinion on causation that is derived from a differential diagnosis.

### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### i. Background.

On July 25, 2014, Bessie Ritter was admitted to Liberty Country Place, a nursing home in Centralia, Washington. CP 1-2, 8. Part of Ms. Ritter's care plan included the house bowel protocol. CP 504, 506-507. On August 30, 2014, a nurse gave Ms. Ritter Milk of Magnesia, per the house bowel protocol. CP 379. By August 31, 2014, Ms. Ritter still had

not had a bowel movement, so a nurse administered a suppository. CP 389. By the following evening, Ms. Ritter had vomited more than once so the nurse sent her to the hospital. CP 390, 392. Ms. Ritter underwent surgery but died a few days later. CP 2, 424-27.

Plaintiff filed this lawsuit, alleging that defendants' failure in treating Ms. Ritter's constipation caused her to develop a "cecal volvulus," which in turn resulted in the rupture of her colon. CP 1-3; 484-86. A "cecal volvulus" is a twisting of part of the colon.

## ii. Plaintiff's Expert Opinion on Causation.

Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that plaintiff could not establish causation. Defendants focused on the question of whether constipation can cause a cecal volvulus, observing that this issue must be established through expert testimony. *See Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983) (noting that "expert testimony will generally be necessary to establish the standard of care . . . and most aspects of causation" when medical facts are at issue). Defendants submitted expert testimony that it is not generally accepted in the scientific community that constipation can cause a cecal volvulus.

For example, Dr. Michael Chiorean opined that there is "zero evidence that constipation leads to cecal volvulus." CP 387. Dr. Brant Oelschlager similarly opined that he did not know of any "literature that

shows that the short-term treatment of constipation in any way affects the development of cecal volvulus." CP 436. Having put causation at issue, defendants observed that plaintiff must show that their scientific theory that constipation can cause a cecal volvulus is generally accepted in the scientific community, and they could not do so. *See, e.g., State v. Copeland,* 130 Wn.2d 244, 255 (1996) (applying *Frye* to determine admissibility of scientific evidence).

In response, plaintiff pointed exclusively to the opinion of Dr. Teresa Brentnall, who opined that "it is my opinion more likely than not, that the untreated constipation of Bessie Ritter . . . led to her development of a cecal volvulus." CP 484, ¶ 9. Dr. Brentnall came to her conclusion based on a "differential diagnosis," which she described as "the method in medicine to determine the cause of an illness." *Id.*, ¶ 8. She explained:

"[Differential diagnosis] involves using information such as symptoms, patient history and medical knowledge to determine the cause of an illness. The clinician applies known facts and clinical experience to narrow the possible causes of an illness and determine the likely cause. I have used this method to form the opinions contained in this declaration. Differential diagnosis is well accepted in the scientific community and is used every day by thousands of physicians throughout the country." *Id.* 

Dr. Brentnall's opinion was based on "the anatomy of the colon and by the presence of a 'large amount of stool'" in the colon, which "likely led to her development of a cecal volvulus." Id. ¶ 9. She claimed her theory was supported by a "study of cecal volvulus in pregnant women," and she opined that "groups that are especially prone to constipation have an increased risk of volvulus," including "patients with chronic illnesses and decreased ambulatory capacity." Id. She also opined that "[p]atients with constipation are 7 times more likely to develop volvulus." Id. ¶ 10. In support of these statements, Dr. Brentnall cited two articles that were attached to her opinion as Exhibits 8 and 9, neither of which actually supported her opinion. CP 524-33, 535-44.

The first article is titled, "Management of the Colonic Volvulus in 2016." CP 524-533. Consistent with its title, the article primarily discusses *management* of a colonic volvulus, not causation. It contains a very brief discussion of the etiology of colonic volvulus, stating that it is "probably multifactorial," and there are several possible "factors," including chronic constipation, a high fiber diet, frequent use of laxatives, history of laparotomy, and anatomic predisposition. CP 525. The article contains no citation to its brief statement that the etiology is "probably multifactorial," or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff also cited to two abstracts of scientific articles, without further discussion. CP 535-537. It is unknown what those articles actually say.

that constipation is one of many possible risk factors, likely because the subject of the article is treatment and it draws no definitive conclusions about etiology. The article goes on to identify risk factors that are "more specific to cecal volvulus," and that list does *not* include constipation: "Some risk factors are more specific to cecal volvulus such as history of previous colonoscopy, laparoscopy and pregnancy." CP 525.

The second article, "Colonic Atony in Association with Sigmoid Volvulus: It's Role in Recurrence of Obstructive Symptoms," concerns sigmoid volvulus, which effects a different part of the colon. CP 583. On causation, the article states that science has yet to explain whether a megacolon (a stretched colon) causes chronic constipation, or chronic constipation causes megacolon: "Chronic constipation is a common malady that can have various causes . . . the underlying cause of the megacolon and constipation . . . is unknown, and it has not been demonstrated which comes first—megacolon or constipation." CP 539. Thus the second article supported defendants' position, not plaintiff's.

The trial court granted summary judgment to defendants because plaintiff failed to provide any evidence that constipation can cause a cecal volvulus. The trial court understood the nuanced point made by this Court in *Anderson*, and again recently in *L.M. v. Hamilton*, that while an expert's ultimate conclusion on causation (*i.e.*, the specific conduct at issue caused

the specific harm suffered by the plaintiff) did not have to be generally accepted, the underlying science that led to the conclusion (*i.e.*, the conduct at issue *can* cause the specific result) must always be generally accepted:

"So there was some discussion, an expert's ultimate opinion, as to what caused the damage in this particular case. That doesn't have to be generally accepted. The opinions can be varied as long as it's based on something that is a methodology that is generally accepted, and we don't have here." RP 20:18-23.

The trial court observed that evidence supporting the theory that constipation causes a cecal volvulus "is just missing" and therefore, the "only conclusion [the trial court] can reach is that because it is not there it is not generally accepted in the scientific community, in the medical community." RP 21:11-17.

# iii. The Court of Appeals Reverses Based on its Interpretation of Anderson.

On appeal, plaintiff argued that, under *Anderson*, "*Frye* does not apply to the causation question." (Brief, p. 17.) The Court of Appeals agreed, although it appeared to limit its ruling to opinions that are based on a differential diagnoses. It held that, "because Dr. Brentnall's causation opinion is based on a differential diagnosis, *Frye* is not implicated." Opinion, p.2.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion was based entirely on *Anderson*, which it read as approving of *any* expert opinion that derives from a differential diagnosis. It quoted this Court's statement in *Anderson* that a physician "may base a conclusion about causation through a process of ruling out potential causes with due consideration to temporal factors, such as events and the onset of symptoms," and from that passage it concluded that any opinion based on a differential diagnosis "does not implicate *Frye*," no matter what potential causes are "ruled-in" to the process of elimination. Opinion, p. 9.

### F. ARGUMENT

### i. Summary of Argument.

Defendants request that this Court accept review because this appeal presents an important, recurring issue of law that has broad implications beyond the facts of this case. The Opinion conflicts with *Anderson*, the recent *L.M.* case and *Frye*, and numerous decisions from other jurisdictions. *See* RAP 3.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

This Court has never held that a trial court is precluded from exercising its gate-keeping function whenever an expert uses the magic words, "differential diagnosis." A plaintiff must always prove "general" causation (that something *can* cause a result) and "specific" causation (that the conduct *did* cause the specific result). Put another way, not only must

an expert "rule out" potential causes, the expert also must "rule in" potential causes that are generally accepted in the medical community. This is particularly so when the "potential cause" that the expert lands on as being the *likely* cause is directly challenged by the opposing party's expert as not generally accepted.

It is easy to see why this must be so. If the Opinion correctly states Washington law, then an expert could conclude that a vaccine caused a child's autism simply by including it in a differential diagnosis, without having to establish general acceptance of the scientific theory that the vaccine *can* cause autism. The Opinion creates a dangerous backdoor for junk science to enter the courtroom. It is inconsistent with *Anderson* and *L.M.*, and defeats the purpose of *Frye*. It should be reversed.

# ii. Washington's Approach to the Admissibility of Expert Scientific Opinion.

ER 702 provides: "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Despite the deceiving simplicity of this rule, "determining whether scientific-seeming evidence is sufficiently reliable to be admissible has vexed courts at least since Frye [1923], and possibly

since the 14th century when judges first started consulting with scientists." *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 600-01. Thus trial courts must "perform an important gate keeping function" when at issue is the admissibility of novel, scientific evidence. *Id.* at 600.

## a. Frye's "General Acceptance" Test.

Washington courts follow the *Frye* test for determining the reliability of novel scientific evidence, based on a test articulated in *Frye* v. *United States*, 293 F. 1013 (1923):

"Just when a scientific principle or discovery crosses the line between the experimental and demonstrable stages is difficult to define. Somewhere in this twilight zone the evidential force of the principle must be recognized, and while courts will go a long way in admitting expert testimony deduced from a well-recognized scientific principle or discovery, the thing from which the deduction is made *must be sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs.*" *Id.* at 1014 (emphasis added).

The *Frye* test allows "disputes concerning scientific validity to be resolved by the relevant scientific community," it "shields juries from any tendency to treat novel scientific evidence as infallible" and it "insulates the adversary system from novel evidence until a pool of experts is available to evaluate it in court." *State v. Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d 244, 922

P.2d 1304 (1996) (quoting 1 *McCormick on Evidence* § 203, at 873 (4th ed. 1992)).

Federal courts went in a different direction in 1993, after the U.S. Supreme Court issued *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed.2d 469 (1993). While the Court reaffirmed that trial courts have an important gatekeeping function to keep junk science from the jury, it provided a non-exclusive list of factors for determining whether the reasoning or methodology is "scientifically valid" and can be applied to the facts.

In *State v. Copeland*, this Court told trial courts to continue to apply *Frye* to novel scientific evidence. 130 Wn.2d at 260. It reasoned that the trial court's gatekeeper role under *Frye* "involves by design a conservative approach, requiring careful assessment of the general acceptance of the theory and methodology of novel science, thus helping to ensure, among other things, that 'pseudoscience' is kept out of the courtroom." *Id.* It noted that "*Daubert* has drawbacks which we decline to import into our standards for admissibility." *Id.* at 260.

# b. Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc. and L.M. v. Hamilton.

At issue in *Anderson* was the admissibility of an expert's opinion that a pregnant woman's exposure to certain organic solvents at work

caused her baby's malformations, which was based on the medical records, materials from the employer, his experience and training, and "the work he himself did that was reported in the Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA)," which the Court summarized and quoted in its opinion. 172 Wn.2d at 604. The Court noted that it "appears the relevant scientific community has yet to seriously research whether exposure to the specific typic of organic solvents present in [the employer's] auto paint can cause the specific type of birth defects at issue," but it disagreed that "there must be scientific consensus that a specific type of exposure causes a specific type of injury before expert testimony is admissible under Frye." Id. at 605. It instead had "consistently found that if the science and methods are widely accepted in the relevant scientific community, the evidence is admissible under *Frye*, without separately requiring widespread acceptance of the plaintiff's theory of causation." *Id.* at 609.<sup>2</sup>

In a passage that confused the Court of Appeals, the Court then noted:

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although this Court has never definitively decided whether *Frye* applies in civil cases, *see Anderson*, 173 Wn.2d at 860-61, the recent *L.M.* opinion implies that it does. The parties in this case assumed that *Frye* applies, although as the case law from other jurisdictions shows, the Opinion is incorrect under *Frye* or *Daubert*.

"Many expert medical opinions are pure opinions and are based on experience and training rather than scientific data. . . . Many medical opinions on causation are based upon differential diagnoses. A physician or other qualified expert may base a conclusion about causation through a process of ruling out potential causes with due consideration to temporal factors, such as events and the onset of symptoms." *Id.* at 610.

The Court's mention of differential diagnoses did not purport to preapprove of any expert opinion that was derived from a process of elimination. Instead, the Court in *Anderson* described the specific scientific evidence which supported the expert's opinion, noting that it is "generally accepted by the scientific community that toxic solvents like the ones to which Anderson was exposed are fat soluble, pass easily through the placenta and dissolve into the amniotic fluid inside the uterus, and may damage the developing brain of a fetus within the uterus." *Id.*And while there was an absence of evidence linking the *specific* organic solvent to the *specific* birth defect at issue, there is "nothing novel about the theory that organic solvent exposure may cause brain damage and encephalopathy," nor was there anything "novel about the methods of the study about which [the expert] wrote."

Based on that reasoning, the Court held that the expert's deduction that the specific toxic solvents at issue likely caused the baby's specific

injuries did not implicate *Frye*. The Court noted: "*Frye* does not require that the specific conclusions drawn from the scientific data . . . be generally accepted in the scientific community. *Frye* does not require every deduction drawn from generally accepted theories to be generally accepted." *Id.* at 611.

This Court decided *L.M.* on March 21, 2019, and thus is familiar with the facts of that case. At issue was a defense expert's opinion that a child's brachial plexus injury ("BPI") was caused by "natural forces of labor" ("NOFL"). The court reaffirmed *Anderson's* basic holding that while the underlying science must be generally accepted, the ultimate deduction the expert makes about specific causation need not be. The Court held that an expert opinion about NOFL was admissible because a substantial amount of medical literature showed that NOFL *can* cause permanent BPIs, and thus the experts could deduce that the child's specific permanent BPI was caused by NOFL. *Id.* at 6-8, 16.

Again, the Court did *not* bless any opinion on causation as outside the court's gatekeeping role. It held that because the theory that NOFL *can* cause a permanent BPI was generally accepted, and in fact had been endorsed by courts in numerous jurisdictions, then the ultimate deduction that NOFL caused the child's specific injury did not implicate *Frye*.

### iii. The Opinion Conflicts with Anderson and L.M.

The Court of Appeals' decision cannot be reconciled with *Anderson* or *L.M.* The court read *Anderson* as precluding trial courts from requiring general acceptance of *any* expert opinion that derives from a differential diagnosis. In so holding, it essentially removed the trial judge as a "gatekeeper" for most scientific opinions on causation, which is the exact result plaintiff argued for below.

The Court in *Anderson* and *L.M.* held that an expert's ultimate conclusion did not implicate *Frye* only after describing the underlying science in detail. In both cases, the Court identified the scientific literature that showed general acceptance of the general medical theory, *i.e.*, that a pregnant woman's exposure to organic solvents can result in harm to the baby in *Anderson*, and that NOFL can cause BPI in *L.M.* The Court of Appeals in this case did not require general acceptance of the theory that constipation can cause a cecal volvulus.

The Court of Appeals instead read dicta from this Court as creating a blanket exception from *Frye* for any scientific theory that is "ruled-in" to a differential diagnosis, and then survives a process of elimination. But that is not what the *Anderson* court held. If it had, then there would have been no reason for the Court to address, at length, the scientific article authored by the expert on the impact on pregnant women of exposure to

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