FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/22/2019 1:04 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96998-1

Court of Appeals No. 50336-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GERALDINE IVERSON, as personal representative of BESSIE RITTER,

Respondent,

۷.

PRESTIGE CARE, INC. and NORTHWEST COUNTRY PLACE, INC.,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 <u>ken@appeal-law.com</u> Attorney for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

Respondent Geraldine Iverson, PR for the Estate of Bessie Ritter, asks this Court to deny review in *Iverson v. Prestige Care, Inc.*, No. 50336-I-II (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2019).¹ Bessie Ritter died after suffering severe constipation for 10 days. The defendant nursing facility was under orders to monitor her bowel movements, to take corrective action, and to call a doctor if problems persisted. The facility did nothing.

A highly qualified, Board Certified Gastroenterologist, Teresa Brentnall, opined to a reasonable medical certainty that the facility's neglect caused Ms. Ritter's death. The facility nonetheless sought summary judgment on the theory that Dr. Brentnall's opinion was insufficient to establish causation. The trial court struck her opinion under *Frye* and granted summary judgment. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed under *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857 (2011). *L.M. v. Hamilton*, 193 Wn.2d 113, 436 P.3d 803 (2019) is not to the contrary. A competent differential diagnosis is not subject to *Frye*. Review is unwarranted.

¹ The Court of Appeals granted Iverson's motion for reconsideration and struck its erroneous footnotes 3 and 6. Iverson attaches the corrected opinion and that order as App. A.

FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER²

A. Iverson alleged that NCPI's failure to properly monitor and care for her mother, Bessie Ritter, caused her death.

Geraldine Iverson is Bessie Ritter's daughter, and the Personal Representative of her Estate. CP 1. In late July 2014, Ms. Ritter was admitted to a nursing home owned and operated by the petitioners, Prestige Care, Inc. and Northwest Country Place, Inc. (collectively, "NCPI" or "facility"). CP 1-2, 8. Iverson alleges that facility staff failed to monitor Ms. Ritter's bowel movements, and failed to act on her lack of bowel movements, for an extended period in August 2014. CP 2. This failure led to Ms. Ritter's hospitalization and death in September 2014. *Id*.

B. During a difficult discovery process in which the trial court repeatedly compelled discovery from the facility, NCPI sought summary judgment.

Discovery was difficult. The trial court repeatedly compelled NCPI to answer interrogatories and to produce documents, and even continued the trial as a result. CP 26-28, 53-56, 79-81. The court also had to compel depositions. CP 90-91. On February 6, 2017, Iverson brought a motion to enforce the order compelling depositions and for sanctions. CP 98-108.

² Iverson agrees with the Court of Appeals' statement of the facts. More specifics, and citations, are provided here.

On February 17, 2017, with Iverson's motion to enforce pending, NCPI sought summary judgment on causation. CP 336-54. It sought to dismiss both of Iverson's claims - negligence and violation of Washington's Vulnerable Adults Act. CP 336-37. As discussed below, the facility essentially argued that Iverson's expert could not establish causation due to *Frye*.³ CP 339-50.

C. Iverson responded to the summary judgment motion with a doctor's expert testimony that – to a reasonable medical probability – NCPI caused Ms. Ritter's death.

In response to the summary judgment motion, lverson

presented the Declaration of Teresa Brentnall, M.D. CP 481-562.⁴

Dr. Brentnall is Board-Certified in Gastroenterology, which she has

practiced for 20 years. CP 481; see also CP 489-99. She is familiar

with the standard of care for treating patients like Ms. Ritter (CP 482):

Regardless of whether the patient is in a rehab center, hospital, or skilled nursing facility, the standard of care applicable to her requires that her care facility address the documented failure to have a bowel movement and follow doctor's orders in connection with the failure to have a bowel movement. The standard of care requires administration of medication in accordance with doctor's orders and follow-up to ensure that the medication is effective.

³ *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

⁴ Dr. Brentnall's declaration (without Exhibits) is attached as App. B.

Dr. Brentnall reviewed "records from [the facility] for the admission beginning July 25, 2014[,] and records from Providence Centralia Hospital, including records from the admissions of August 19, 2014, and [of] September 1, 2014." CP 482. Dr. Brentnall found that "Ms. Ritter was readmitted to [the facility] from Providence Centralia Hospital on 8/22/14 at 6:50 p.m. and was discharged back to Providence Centralia Hospital on 9/1/14 at 6:25 p.m." *Id*.

Facility records show "Ms. Ritter did not have any bowel movements during this . . . 10 days." *Id*. (citing CP 501-02).⁵ Yet Ms. Ritter already "suffered from constipation following her discharge back to the facility on 8/22/14". CP 483 (citing CP 509-10).⁶ "That Ms. Ritter went without a bowel movement . . . between 8/22/14 and 9/1/14 is further confirmed by the presence of residual oral contrast [dye] noted on the 9/1/14 imaging study." *Id*. "The contrast was administered on 8/19/14 and should have passed from her system in 5 days." *Id*. The Sitz Marker test, commonly used to measure bowel transit, "is considered abnormal if the radio-opaque markers consumed in the test have not cleared the body within 5 days." *Id*.

⁵ The vitals report is attached as App. C.

⁶ These hospital records are attached as App. D.

(citing CP 512-14). "It is grossly abnormal for the oral contrast not to have cleared Ms. Ritter's system between 8/19/14 and 9/1/14." *Id*.

The objective evidence of severe constipation "is strong and includes not just the facility's own medical record, but also the condition of the patient and the imaging of her abdomen when she was admitted to [the hospital] on 9/1/14." CP 483-84. Authoritative guidelines from the American Gastroenterological Association further support this diagnosis. CP 484 (quoting CP 516-22).

Medical records further show that "the facility did not do anything to address Ms. Ritter's constipation until the evening of 8/30/14, when for the first time she was given Milk of Magnesia." CP 482-83 (citing CP 504).⁷ The facility also "did not follow the physician orders set forth on [App. D] and referencing the 'HBP,'" which the doctor understood as "the House Bowel Program or Constipation Management Protocol." CP 483 (citing CP 506-07).⁸

As a result of these failures, the facility breached the Constipation Management Protocol and physician orders, and thus the standard of care, by the following omissions (CP 483, paragraphing added):

⁷ This medication administration record is attached as App. E.

⁸ This constipation management protocol is attached as App. F.

(1) not administering docusate sodium after more than one day without a bowel movement;

(2) not administering Milk of Magnesium after three days without a bowel movement;

(3) not giving Ms. Ritter a suppository after three days and one shift without a bowel movement; [and]

(4) not calling the physician after having no results from these medications.

These breaches were repeated daily during the time period between 8/23/14 and 8/30/14, when Ms. Ritter was finally given medication for constipation.

Dr. Brentnall opined that these breaches caused Ms. Ritter's death. CP 484-85. To a reasonable medical certainty, "the untreated constipation of Bessie Ritter during the period between 8/22/14 and 9/1/14 led to her development of a cecal volvulus." CP 484. "Cecal volvulus is a twisting of the colon." *Id.* "Ms. Ritter's colon likely twisted as a result of the ten day period of constipation at" the facility. *Id.*

Dr. Brentnall's opinion is "supported by known facts regarding the anatomy of the colon and by the presence of a 'large amount of stool' in the colon in the imaging study of 9/1/14." *Id*. That "large amount of stool causes the colon to distend and interferes with muscle function." *Id*. "The colonic distension from constipated stool decreases capillary blood flow, leads to decreased colonic motility (atony), increases the risk of torsion of the colon, and likely led to the twisting of Ms. Ritter's cecum." *Id*. This "was avoidable and preventable through the implementation of the Constipation Management Protocol ordered by the doctors." *Id*.

Indeed, patients "with constipation are 7 times more likely to develop volvulus." CP 485 (citing CP 524-33, 535-44). Groups especially vulnerable include chronically ill patients with decreased ambulatory capacity like Ms. Ritter. *Id.* "This process is likely what led to Ms. Ritter's cecal volvulus." *Id.*

Dr. Brentnall's opinion is based on her differential diagnosis:

Differential diagnosis is the method used in medicine to determine the cause of an illness. The method involves using information such as symptoms, patient history, and medical knowledge to determine the cause of an illness. The clinician applies known facts and clinical experience to narrow the possible causes of an illness and determine the likely cause.

I have used this method to form the opinions contained in this declaration. Differential diagnosis is well accepted in the scientific community and is used every day by thousands of physicians throughout the country.

Through the process of differential diagnosis, it is in my opinion more likely than not, that the untreated constipation of Bessie Ritter during the period between 8/22/14 and 9/1/14 led to her development of a cecal volvulus.

• • •

I have considered the events that led to the cecal volvulus that was the immediate cause of Ms. Ritter's demise, and on a more probable than not basis, the ten day period of untreated constipation and resulting heavy stool burden were the proximate causes of the twisting of the cecum and [of] Mrs. Ritter's demise.

CP 484-85 (paragraphing altered for readability). Dr. Brentnall's differential diagnosis is also supported by medical literature. CP 485-86 (citing CP 524-33).

In sum, there "is little question that the twisting of the cecum was the immediate cause of Ms. Ritter's death," which was "treatable and avoidable." CP 486 (citing CP 546-47,⁹ 549¹⁰). Ms. Ritter's prior episode of constipation at the facility, which completely resolved with the use of laxatives, supports this analysis. *Id.* By following the doctor's orders, NCPI would have prevented Ms. Ritter's death. *Id.*

D. Notwithstanding Dr. Brentnall's medical opinion, the trial court granted summary judgment on causation.

The trial court granted summary judgment on causation. CP 764-65. It denied lverson's reconsideration motion explaining in detail why this Court's *Anderson* decision precludes summary judgment here. CP 745-51; 757. It entered a final judgment, and a supplemental judgment. CP 743-44, 758-60. Iverson timely appealed. CP 761-68.

⁹ The hospital "Discharge Summary" is attached as App. G.

¹⁰ The death certificate is attached as App. H.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The decision is correctly based on a close application of *Anderson*: *Frye* does not apply to the widely recognized diagnostic modality, differential diagnosis.

Anderson holds that *Frye* "is not implicated if the theory and the methodology relied upon and used by the expert to reach an opinion on causation is generally accepted by the relevant scientific community." *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 597. When the theory and methodology are widely accepted, "the evidence is admissible under *Frye*, without separately requiring widespread acceptance of the plaintiff's theory of causation." *Id.* at 609.

"Many medical opinions on causation are based upon differential diagnoses." *Id.* at 610. As Dr. Brentnall explained, differential diagnosis "is the method used in medicine to determine the cause of an illness." CP 484. This method "involves using information such as symptoms, patient history, and medical knowledge to determine the cause of an illness." *Id.* The doctor "applies known facts and clinical experience to narrow the possible causes of an illness and determine the likely cause." *Id.* Dr. Brentnall used this scientific methodology to reach her causation opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical probability. CP 484, 486. Differential diagnosis has been generally accepted in the scientific community since at least Hippocrates (460-370 B.C.), though examples may exist in the Babylonian Esagil-kin-apli (fl. 1069-1046 B.C.), and in the writings of Imhotep (2630-2611 B.C.).¹¹ Therefore, *Frye* is not implicated where, as here, a causation opinion is not based on novel science. *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 611.

Rather, a physician "may base a conclusion about causation through a process of ruling out potential causes with due consideration to temporal factors, such as events and the onset of symptoms." *Id.* at 610. This is because many "expert medical opinions are <u>pure opinions</u> and are based on experience and training <u>rather than scientific data</u>." *Id.* (emphases added). This Court requires "only that 'medical expert testimony . . . be based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty' or probability." *Id.* (quoting *McLaughlin v. Cooke*, 112 Wn.2d 829, 836, 774 P.2d 1171 (1989)).

In *Anderson*, plaintiffs relied on a doctor who opined, "within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, as to the cause of [the child's] malformations as being in utero workplace exposure." *Id*. Much like Dr. Brentnall here, that doctor based his opinion on the

10

¹¹ See generally <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/differential diagnosis</u> and <u>/medical diagnosis</u>)

child's medical records, documents from the defendant, and his own experience and training. *Id.* at 603-04. This included "work he himself did" and reported in a medical journal. *Id.* at 604. But his coauthor, testifying for the defense, opined that this journal article "does not establish the existence of a causal relation between exposure to organic solvents and birth defects." *Id.* at 604-05.¹² Indeed, the *plaintiff*'s expert admitted, "we don't have enough research, you're absolutely right," the state of the science is "evolving." *Id.* at 605.

The defendant in *Anderson* thus argued – like the facility here

- that the causal theory must be "generally accepted" (*id*.):

it is not enough "to argue, therefore, that expert opinion testimony is admissible solely because it is based on accepted scientific techniques. Not only the technique used to accumulate scientific data or information, <u>but also the theory of causation arrived at</u>, must be 'generally accepted' in the scientific community." [Emphasis added.]

As here, the Anderson trial court agreed. Id.

But this Court disagreed (*id*. at 609):

This court has consistently found that if the science and methods are widely accepted in the relevant scientific community, the evidence is admissible under *Frye*, <u>without</u> <u>separately requiring widespread acceptance of the plaintiff's</u> theory of causation. See, e.g., [*State v.*]*Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d [759,] 829[, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)]; [*State v.*]*Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d [244,] 255[, 922 P.3d 1304 (1996)]; *Reese*[*v. Stroh*],

¹² In a significant footnote, this Court noted that the journal study was designed only to show correlation, not causation. 172 Wn.2d at 605 n.3.

128 Wn.2d [300,] 309[, 907 P.2d 282 (1995)]; [*State v.*] *Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d [879,] 887[, 846 P.2d 502 (1993)]. [Emphasis added.]

And as the Court of Appeals said in *Reese*, there is nothing

"mystical" about a jury evaluating pure medical opinions (*id*.):

We do not find that lack of statistical support fatal to Dr. Fallat's causation opinion. Such support is required neither by ER 702, ER 703, nor by our case law. Rather, medical expert testimony must be based upon a "reasonable degree of medical certainty." [Citations omitted.]

. . .

Dr. Fallat's proposed testimony, based on the information known to the medical profession at the time of Plaintiff's treatment, "is the type of information jurors and their physicians rely on in their everyday lives to make decisions about health care. There is nothing mystical about it, and jurors are perfectly capable of determining what weight to give this kind of expert testimony." *Reese* [*v. Stroh*], 74 Wn. App. [550,]565[, 874 P.2d 200 (1994)].

Indeed, the "absence of 'a statistically significant basis' for the

expert's opinion that the plaintiff would have benefited from the Prolastin therapy <u>neither implicated *Frye*</u> nor rendered the proffered testimony inadmissible." 172 Wn.2d at 610 (citing *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 305, 307) (emphasis added). This is because many "expert medical opinions <u>are pure opinions</u> and are based on experience and training <u>rather than scientific data</u>." *Id*. (emphases added). Indeed, many "<u>medical opinions on causation are based upon differential diagnoses.</u>" *Id*. (emphasis added).

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